



Taking Stock

The financial crisis and development from a feminist perspective

WIDE's Position paper on the global social, economic and environmental crisis

Vienna, January 2010

Rue Hobbema 59

1000 Brussels

Belgium

Tel: +32 2 545 90 70

Fax: +32 2 512 73 42

info@wide-network.org

www.wide-network.org

Authors

Ursula Dullnig, Brita Neuhold, Traude Novy, Kathrin Pelzer, Edith Schnitzer, Barbara Schöllenberger, Claudia Thallmayer

Editing

Gerhild Perlaki-Straub, Hannah Golda

Layout

Hannah Golda





This paper has been produced with the financial assistance of the European Union and HIVOS. The contents of the paper are the sole responsibility of WIDE and can under no circumstances be regarded as reflecting the position of the European Union.

Publisher

WIDE – Netzwerk Women in Development Europe Währingerstr. 2-4/22 1090 Vienna, Austria

Tel: (+43-1) 317 40 31,

E-Mail: office@wide-netzwerk.at http://www.wide-netzwerk.at

Central Register number: 626905553

finanziert durch die

Österreichische

Entwicklungszusammenarbeit

Copyright © January 2010 WIDE

Any parts of this publication may be reproduced without the permission for educational and non-profit purposes if the source is acknowledged. WIDE would appreciate a copy of the text in which document is used or cited.

CONTENTS

1. WHY THIS FEMALE-ORIENTED PUBLICATION IS NECESSARY	4
2. HIGHLIGHTS ON THE BACKDROP TO THE FINANCIAL CRISIS	7
3. THE PROTECTIVE SHIELD FOR THE FINANCIAL SECTOR AND ITS EFFECTS ON WOMEN	11
4. FACTS AND FIGURES ABOUT THE FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC CRISIS SINCE 2008	13
5. REVIEW: THE MEXICAN AND ASIAN FINANCIAL CRISES	18
6. WHO IS PAYING FOR THE CRISIS?	21
7. MEASURES AT THE INTERNATIONAL LEVEL	24
8. A CALL FOR A BROADER VIEW OF ECONOMICS	27
9. WAYS OUT OF THE FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC CRISIS	32
ACRONYMS	35
BIBLIOGRAPHY	36

"The crisis probably marks the end of a global development model. The collapse of the financial system is the merging point for other dimensions of the crisis and brings to light the weaknesses of the growth model. Thus, the financial crisis merges with the environmental-, food-, and sustainable livelihoods crises and also, of particular importance to this session, with the care crisis. We must not let the spectacular nature of the financial breakdown make us forget these other structural crises."

(Amaia Pérez Orozco)¹

¹ UN-INSTRAW 2009

1. WHY THIS FEMALE-ORIENTED PUBLICATION IS NECESSARY

As 2008 progressed, it gradually became clearer that the US real estate crisis was not just a normal economic hiccup. A huge speculation bubble had burst, leading to the crash of a sick global economic and financial system. For years, critical economists, representatives of NGOs and many women's organisations had been warning of the pending collapse of this global house of cards. But how did it come to pass? What are the system's structural weaknesses?

International trade in goods and services amounts to 14 trillion US dollars a year (2007). Foreign currency transactions account for 3 trillion US dollars a day (2007), which means that the foreign exchange turnover generated in four days is sufficient to cover the yearly demands of world trade. Only two percent of foreign currency transactions are based on the real economy; 98 percent are the product of speculation.²

In 2008, the trading turnover of financial market products (derivatives) added up to 500 trillion US dollars per quarter on average. Total financial transactions in 2007 represented 73.5 times the global gross domestic product.³ These figures clearly show that financial market players are totally out of touch with real life and the real economy, and do not take them into account when making decisions. (See Chapter [2]: Highlights on the backdrop to the financial crisis, p. 6).

In September 2008, the blow delivered by the crisis was so powerful that one could only think of disaster relief: overnight, large banks and financial institutions became insolvent and the ghost of 1929 haunted the world. In those circumstances, it would have been irresponsible to oppose the granting of thousands of billions [of dollars] to the banks in order to prevent a total collapse of the world's economy. Gradually, however, the shock is receding, and now many people have become extremely vulnerable, especially women. (See Chapter [no. 5]: Review: the Mexican and Asian financial crises, p. 17).

Most banks were saved and a significant amount of money has been put aside to prop them up further. Economic stimulus provided packages were for construction industry and state-funded credit was given to car manufacturers so that they could purchase other brands, to create mergers that would be "too big to fail". Budget deficits have exploded. Maastricht's "noble" aim - the limiting of national debt in EU states (which has always been used to justify cuts in the social sector) - is now obsolete.

At the outset of the crisis, promises were made to reform the financial markets substantially, and ensure to transparency and democratic regulation. None of those promises have been kept. The small window of opportunity that the crisis opened for fundamental reform seems to be closing again already. Those governing us choose to ignore that that this is not just a crisis affecting financial markets and the so-called real economy, but that it is above all a social and ecological crisis. The relationship between extremely unequal worldwide distribution of income and work, between industrial development and climate change, between the globalisation of markets and the financial crisis, has hardly addressed. The paradigm unlimited growth is still the basic tenet in politics and the economy - with the notion of unlimited growth in a finite system remaining unquestioned.

Since the very beginning of the crisis, those who are responsible for causing it are precisely the ones who have been sitting

² Gabriel, 2009

³ Schulmeister *et al.* 2008

on the committees attempting to solve it. In the media, journalists state that capitalism in itself is acceptable, and that its failure is down to policy. At the same time, they advise against too much state control over the system. It is these same – male – experts who did not foresee the collapse of the system but yet tell us how to find solutions. (See Chapter [no. 7]: Measures at the international level, p. 23).

For some time now, stock market analysts have been trying to lure customers back to the stock market, where insiders can make windfall profits, just as they did before the crisis. Some banks, which received taxfunded loans to strengthen their equity, significant without any counterperformance on their part, are making profits again and have multiplied their quoted stock prices a year after the meltdown. For example, in a press conference for the first semester of 2009, the managing director of the Austrian Erste Bank announced that 86 percent of the bank's very positive results were the product of commercial transactions, i.e. activities relating to the purchase and sale of financial market products (shares, currencies, derivatives). So another stock market bubble is growing, and this time, it is possible that there will be no state funds left to save it.

Due to a shift from a pay-as-you-go scheme to a capital cover system, the crisis is having a direct effect on individuals' pensions. Capital market-based company and private pensions have irrecoverably fallen; according to the Austrian Protective Association for Pension Fund Beneficiaries (Schutzverband der Pensions-kassen-Berechtigten), pensions that were valued at 1,000 Euros in 2000 had tumbled to 550 Euros in 2009.⁴

The (mainly male) elites continue to act as they did in the past, despite the global outrage their behaviour has caused. After all, they are not the ones who have to pay the bill: it is the poorest of the world, and mainly women, who suffer the most. The Asian crisis of 1997/98 shows us what the future holds. The sociologist Diane Elson⁵ has termed this phenomenon "download" of risks to the kitchens. During the countless crises of the past decades in Latin America, Asia and Russia, banks and corporations have been rescued - leading to currency devaluation, privatisation of public services, redundancies and pay cuts that have all had severe effects on private households. (See Chapter [no. 6]: Who is paying for the crisis?, p.20).

The current crisis has not changed the underlying attitude: the social sector, the environment, and social services are still not seen as important elements of the economy. There are no economic stimulus packages for those sectors. Unpaid work (especially that done by women) is the hidden basis of the so-called real and financial economy, and it has always acted as a cushion for irresponsible behaviour. In poor countries, it is also often women who lose their (badly paid) jobs, do unpaid overtime and work in illegal labour conditions in order to provide for their families.

In the meantime, the individuals who bear the responsibility for the crisis because of their reckless dealings continue to do business as usual – although a little more discreetly than before – with hedge funds, in tax havens and in banks that have been bailed out with billions of dollars' worth of tax money. A future disaster is therefore predictable.

For these reasons, it does not make sense to simply repair the existing neoliberal economic system and restore the pre-crisis, unbalanced markets. The only way to prevent this from happening would be for civil society to put great pressure on

-

⁴ Braun 2009

⁵ Quoted WOMNET 2009

politicians, on both a national and international level. That is why it is so important to give visibility to committed groups, especially women, and to ensure their voices are heard. (See Chapter [no. 8]: A call for a broader view of economics, p.26).

2. HIGHLIGHTS ON THE BACKDROP TO THE **FINANCIAL CRISIS**

The economic "megatrend" behind the development of financial sector capitalism has been the enormous accumulation of private investment capital. According to economist Jörg Huffschmid, the total amount of private investment capital increased from 12 to 196 trillion dollars between 1980 and 2007, (i.e. sixteen fold). World aggregate output, by contrast, increased from 10 to 55 trillion dollars over the same period, (i.e. five and a half fold).6 The reasons for this tremendous accumulation of personal wealth over the last three decades lie in the increased inequality in the redistribution of income and capital from the bottom up (as may be seen in the drop in wage rates in the industrialised countries) and the increasing privatisation of the social security system, pensions.⁷ particularly The witnessed the beginning of a revision of the political constellations and power relations arising out of the Second World War, leading to an increase in strength and lobbying capacity on the part of capital on the one hand, and a decreasing willingness to engage in conflict and the debilitation of female working populations on the other hand.

By contrast, the post-war era, until the 1970s, was characterised by the regulation of the world monetary system and, simultaneously, a stabilisation of the world economy. This international regulation of the monetary system was introduced in the light of experiences with unregulated capital markets and the "Black Friday" of 1929 and the subsequent world economic crisis and the Second World War. At Bretton Woods (1944), the international community agreed on the stabilisation of the financial system and fixed exchange rates, based on the US dollar as reserve currency. The Bretton Woods Conference enabled governments to implement controls over capital transactions for the purpose of preventing the massive influx of capital from foreign countries and the abrupt, uncontrolled outflow of that same permitting capital. thus the development of national economies based on long-term loans. The Bretton Woods Conference also created the International Monetary Fund (IMF), intended to ensure the stability of the international financial system. These measures, along with reconstruction, economic upturn and high growth rates, inspired investor confidence after the war.8

The End of Fixed Exchange Rates

This system of stable exchange rates was abandoned in the early 1970s as a result of US dollar inflationary pressures related to armament expenditures during the war in Vietnam, as a result of which the USA was compelled to stop pegging the US dollar to gold reserves. Britta Schmitt (2003) has noted that the stable Bretton Woods monetary system was already being circumvented through the establishment of a parallel "grey capital market", beginning with the so-called Markets" of the City of London. The "Euro markets" - offering US dollar investment opportunities while evading controls over capital transactions - were the precursor of offshore banking in the Cayman Islands, Switzerland and many others countries.

quantities of Huge liquid capital accumulated in these offshore centres. These parallel "grey markets" were perceived causing "location as disadvantages" to traditional financial resulting centres, in the general

⁶ Huffschmid 2009

⁷ cf. also Kublbock/Staritz 2008, p. 15f

⁸ cf. Schmitt 2003

abandonment of fixed exchange rates and capital transaction controls in industrialised countries.

Britta Schmitt states: "For this reason, the new financial order after Bretton Woods (...) has reverted to the old, hazardous financial order of the early 20th century – but with the sole difference that volumes of liquid capital have multiplied many times over worldwide, in comparison to the past, while huge sums of risk capital can be transferred all over the world with the click of a mouse".

The Growing Number of Financial Market Participants

Today, "a growing number of financial market participants, such as investment banks, brokerage houses, hedge funds, private equity funds, real estate funds, and all types of investment and pension funds, etc. (...) are now active in areas free from supervision; their overly clever and egotistical 'product innovations' multiplying the potential for asymmetrical market relationships, leading to the formation of bubbles and steering the financial markets into constantly new crises - for example, the Mexico Crisis of 1982 and the Dotcom Bubble of 2000. Even at that time – in a scenario repeated many times since then - billions of dollars and Euros were made available in guarantees for purposes of equity capital assistance. Financial market participants were now free to act largely without controls, in the absence of regulatory protection for private clients, resulting in a sort of 'moral hazard', in increasingly reckless 'product innovations".10

The enormous volumes of capital flowing onto the financial markets meant that this same capital had to be invested at a profit, putting increased pressure on listed companies, which had to distribute constantly higher dividend yields to satisfy

their shareholders as a result. "Private equity companies and hedge funds (...) not only jeopardized the equilibrium of the financial system with their exceedingly flows foreign large of financing, unrestricted by law; they also demanded the implementation of 'shareholder value' in corporate undertakings, sometimes with brutal results. The logic of necessity inherent in the situation was to have apparently inescapable consequences in politics."11

Globalisation

The developing countries and emerging economies were being integrated into the international financial markets to an increasingly extreme degree. As far back as 1982, the Latin American debt crisis was associated with the capital expansion of industrialised countries. With regards to the financial crises of the 1990s and 2000s. economist José Gabriel Palma has shown that the countries chiefly effected (Mexico, Argentina, Brazil, Korea, Malaysia and Thailand) had liberalized their capital transactions only shortly before, at a time when liquidity on the international financial markets was very high and growth rates were falling in most of the OECD countries, resulting in a massive influx of capital to Latin America following liberalisation. No matter how these countries attempted to absorb the capital influx, a crisis was inevitable. "Experience in China, India and Taiwan at the time shows that a more selective connection to international capital markets could have represented a considerably more effective possibility of smoothing over the cyclical dynamics of the unrestricted flow of capital, while avoiding the high costs caused by the influx and subsequent withdrawal of that same capital". 12

¹¹ Schuberth 2008

⁹ Schmitt 2003, p. 249

¹⁰ Gubitzer 2009

¹² Palma 2008

Expansion

"The crisis marks the end of a gigantic growth phase. This expansion boom, generally known as globalisation, represented the way out of the 1970s overproduction crisis. At the same time, constantly increasing volumes of capital flowed onto the financial markets as a result of the saturated commodities markets; production was shifted to the lower-wage countries of the South, while increasingly greater numbers of women (including migrants) were selectively integrated into the value-creation chain at the lower end, as a flexible, underpaid workforce, in an international reorganisation of the allocation of labour. Corporations were ensured access to local biodiversity and knowledge through discriminatory licensing agreements, while public healthcare was subordinated to public property was appropriated by private interests. More and more people, resources and spheres of life were drawn into the production of goods and the compulsion to turn a profit."

(Christa Wichterich)¹³

deregulation The ideology of privatisation advocated by the international financial institutions (especially the IMF) were decisive in implementing liberalisation of the capital markets in both developing countries and emerging nations, which was forced upon these countries in the form of special conditions. The countries industrialised also assured themselves of investment opportunities far in excess of any actual trade in goods, through international trade agreements (WTO Agreements, Bilateral EU Free Trade Agreements, etc.).

¹³ Wichterich 2009c, p. 22 (translated from German)

The "Sub-prime" Crisis

The most recent financial crisis resulted from the crisis of American sub-prime real estate markets in 2007, culminating in an almost complete collapse of the international banking and financial system in the fall of 2008.

American banks (like Fanny Mae and Freddy Mac) issued loans to debtors of varying degrees of creditworthiness, then bundled the loans and sold the debts downstream. "The opinion of many economists was that the securitisation of credits increased the stability of financial markets, because the risks were now more widely diversified and were no longer so heavily concentrated in the banking system. The contrary was the case. The risks of the credits have now returned to the banking system through a variety of round-about routes. This meant that the mortgage crisis expanded globally, through a process of retail loan retailing, engulfing other segments of the financial markets. The 'diversification of risk' meant that risks were rendered anonymous; bad risks could hardly be distinguished from good ones. The resulting loss of confidence became so serious that the money markets suffered a temporary collapse."14

Economist Brigitte Young points out that the American sub-prime crisis must be viewed in relation to a "financialisation of everyday life", accompanied by stagnating wages in the United States. In what Young calls "privatised Keynesianism", the State no longer plays an anti-cyclical, reflationary role through public investments; rather, the individual, credit-based demand for consumption acts as the economic motor of the USA. In America, home ownership is associated with high social status and protects the individual against a fragile social system. Over the last few years, the country's more disadvantaged social

¹⁴ Schuberth 2008

¹⁵ Young 2009, p. 15

groups have been granted access to home ownership through "sub-prime credits", associated with higher risk surcharges and, therefore, higher interest rates; at the same time, these people - as a result of stagnating wages - have been caught in a high-risk debt trap, which has cost thousands of people the roof over their heads over the medium term. "The crisis potential built up through a simultaneous price boom in real estate, shares and commodities triggered a subsequent devaluation of these same assets. The mortgage credit crisis was simply the detonator without which the subsequent disintegration could never have produced a worldwide financial crisis."16

The Absence of Regulation

"What makes this crisis so unique in both depth and scope is the fact that the deregulation of the financial markets accompanied bν non-transparent 'innovative' financial products and the total failure of the rating system - led to an unprecedented degree of debt. Blind faith in the "efficiency" of deregulated financial markets led to the fact that governments permitted the emergence of a shadow financial system and various global "casinos", while offering little or no supervision and inadequate capitalisation."¹⁷

On the Relationship Between the Financial Sector and the Real Economy

"The total monetary value of the funds floating around in the financial sector amount to four times the value of the real economy as a whole. This means that four times more money is available to spend than there are goods to be purchased. What is more, the money is so heavily concentrated that the people who have it cannot spend it. For example, the American hedge fund manager, John

Paulson, earned approximately four billion dollars in one year. With the best will in the world, he cannot possibly spend it in the real economy. (...) The gap between the poor and rich countries is growing wider. Those who need to buy have no money. And those with the money cannot spend it, except in the financial sector. That's why I think we're blowing up another bubble, right now."

(Brigitte Unger)¹⁸

¹⁸ Quote: Der Standard, 6.10.2009 (translated from German)

¹⁶ Schulmeister 2009b

¹⁷ UNCTAD 2009, p. III

3. THE PROTECTIVE SHIELD FOR THE FINANCIAL SECTOR AND ITS EFFECTS ON WOMEN

"Some commentators were still arguing that the crisis was a blip, analogous to a muscle strain in a champion athlete which could be healed with some rest and physiotherapy—as opposed to a heart attack in a 60-a-day smoker whose cure would require surgery and major changes in lifestyle."

(Robert Wade) 19

Billions of Euros were made available to the banks in 2008 to guarantee bank issues and savings investments, and to strengthen banking equity. Later, in propping up the corporations and providing them with liquidity, large sums from the banking package were reallocated to cover liabilities arising as a result of loans owed by these same large corporations. How much of this was, and will be, actually claimed cannot be estimated due to a lack of information.

Whatever the case, the governmental debt situation is worsened by these amounts (which are difficult to appraise), resulting in an increase in debt ratios.

It is argued that this rapid political action in the interests of the banks was required to protect the banking system from total collapse, which would have had unforeseeable consequences. Theoretically, that is true. But the question is: how do financial markets actually work? How did they become so powerful that they were able to wreck the world economy? And how can we keep similar catastrophes from happening in the future?

As shown by Naomi Klein in her book "The Shock Doctrine"²⁰, every financial crisis in the last 30 years has been exploited to implement unpopular polices directed against the majority of the population; the plans for all this were drawn up long ago. The crisis puts us in a tight spot: rapid action is required, while the actual situation is hard to scrutinize.

The economic and financial System in		
the different Crises		
1982	Debt crisis in numerous	
	developing countries	
1987	New York stock market crisis	
1992/93	Crisis of the European	
	monetary system	
1994/95	Mexican crisis and the "Tequila	
	Effect"	
1997/98	Southeast Asian crisis	
1998	Russian crisis	
1998/99	Brazilian crisis	
2000/01	Turkish crisis	
2001/02	Argentinean crisis	
2001	"dot.com" crisis in the USA	
2002	Another Brazilian crisis	
2007/08	Sub-prime crisis in the USA	
2008/09	Global economic crisis	

Financial markets have never just been "markets" like all the others. Globalisation, liberalisation. privatisation, communications technologies - not to mention an inability on the part of the public authorities to act on behalf of ordinary people - have transformed the financial markets into the dominant factor in both economics and politics. How is it possible that the political authorities appear to have lost all control over the economy? How can we prevent a repetition of these financial crises and catastrophes in the future? How can we regain our democratic latitude?

The Economy as an "Organism"

Expressions from biology are often used to refer to financial services. Depending on

¹⁹ Quoted in Schenk, 2009

²⁰ Klein 2007

our preferences, we may speak of the "nervous system" or "circulatory system" of a national economy. These metaphors are intended to depict the importance of the financial markets on the one hand, and the crucial importance of the financial sector as a whole on the other hand. What this conceals is that banks, insurance companies, investment companies and even large industrial companies (e.g. speculative ventures by Porsche and VW) have long since abandoned their core businesses. It is no longer primarily a problem of converting private household savings into investments or diversifying business risks. Nor is it a question of how best to organise payment transactions. Rather, financial services have themselves become a commodity. To borrow a few more biological images, our "nervous system" and "circulatory system" have now become independent entities, which cannot be kept alive without blood transfusions from the government.

Deregulation and Speculation

The term "finance industry" is often used in referring to the trading of shares, loans, currencies, derivatives and hedge funds, while overly-complicated investment opportunities are referred to "products", creating the impression that these transactions involve an exchange of commodities and goods. In reality, however, an expectation of future profit is simply purchased and sold, in a constantly evolving succession of forms, maturities and compositions, based not on any real product but on possibilities of enormous profit – and loss.

This was all made possible by a policy of deregulation of the financial markets, the privatisation of basic public utilities and infrastructures, such as the post office and utilities, and the privatisation displacement on the financial markets of severance indemnity reserves and (corporate) pension schemes, thus enormously expanding the volume of capital flowing into these same markets. Deregulation of the commodities markets – including food – have turned these commodities into objects of speculation, leading to enormous price fluctuations and a worldwide food crisis.

The Effect on Women

Selective information in the media has a tendency to conceal the long-term effects of the economic crisis on disadvantaged people in Austria, as well as on developing and emerging countries. The dismissal of itinerant female workers in China and the return of the now-unemployed migrant women workers to their countries of origin are visible indications that the spiral of poverty is twisting disastrously downwards. Contrary to the objectives of the Millennium Development Goals, the number of hungry and malnourished people in the world increased to one billion in 2009. Past financial crises in Latin America, Asia, Russia, as well as the crisis of the New Economy in the year 2000, have shown that financial markets can be stabilised fairly quickly, but that the lives of the poor – particularly women – are always mortgaged long-term.

In the next few years - when it comes time to pay back at least some of the government debt - women will be the hardest hit. The fields of health, education, care-giving (i.e. everything that might fall within the category of the "Care Economy" - which involves chiefly women) will come under massive pressure worldwide. The reduction in governmental debt will be associated with a loss of the social services upon which women are chiefly dependent.

4. FACTS AND FIGURES ABOUT THE FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC CRISIS SINCE 2008

International research and information centres all agree that the global recession that began in 2008 is the worst since 1930. It is having a huge impact on human development worldwide, especially affecting women, men and children in the Southern Hemisphere, and has put at risk the attainment of the Millennium Development Goals in that part of the world.²¹

As a result of the 3.7 per cent decrease in global income in 2009 compared to the previous year²² and the drastic rise of unemployment in the North²³ and South, there is a widening asymmetry, both between North and South and within individual countries. In all regions, subregions and states, the political, economic and social rifts between men and women are growing. A major reason for this is that the gender perspective is not taken into account when analysing the causes of the crisis or when setting up strategies to tackle it.

The near collapse of the system – which had been predicted by members of civil society – was the result of the severe lack of financial flow regulations and the consequent uncontrolled creation of highrisk financial products, structures and instruments. ²⁴ The governments' response is unsatisfactory, although it must be said that the approaches to managing the crisis are very different in the North and South.

Stimulus Packages for Rich Countries, Austerity Plans for Poor Countries

A big difference between past crises and this one is that this time, industrialised countries stand at its centre. Therefore, the response is not the same as in the previous ones that affected southern and eastern countries. In those cases. currencies were devalued and austerity plans were set up for public budgets, which led to major social problems. On the other industrialised countries hand. sufficient state funds to save their banks and keep their economies above water thanks to stimulus packages. They have decided to act in a "countercyclical" manner. This is also true in the case of some developing countries. In industrialised countries of the North, the stimulus packages amount to 3.7 per cent of gross national product (GNP). In most countries, the packages will be in place for two years. China has announced a particularly ambitious stimulus package of over 13 per cent of its GNP.²⁵

By contrast, many developing countries emerging economies, including Eastern European states, have had to turn to the IMF for loans to stabilise their currencies and save their banks. As in the IMF loans are given "procyclical" conditions - in other words, the states must establish austerity plans. The financial crisis has renewed belief in the value of the IMF . Over the last few years, the institution had lost importance: the catastrophic economic and social effects of the structure adjustment programmes it had imposed had become well-known.

One of the industrialised countries' first joint decisions at the outset of the crisis was to raise funds for the IMF. They increased threefold, but the IMF's lending policy was not reformed²⁶ and developing countries and emerging economies were not given any democratic say in the matter. By the end of May 2009, almost 50 had

²³ United Nations, A/CONF214/4, p. 2

-

²¹United Nations, A/CONF. 214/4, p. 2ff

²² United Nations, E 2009/73

²⁴United Nations: A/CONF. 214/4, p. 3

²⁵ UNCTAD 2009, p. 21ff

²⁶ cf. Dombrovkis 2009

become IMF debtors.27 The IMF's loan conditions have drastically reduced its ability to stimulate public expenditure and private spending within the economy by increasing domestic demand and creating jobs. The only countries with more leeway are the ones whom the IMF considered "exemplary" in the past. Most funds are given to middleincome countries, whereas for the most part, the poorest remain empty-handed.²⁸

All governments, North and South alike, still adhere to policies that will not solve the structural problems in the financial sector, and that do not even take into account the unsustainability of many industries and the great rift in economic possibilities between different countries.

The **Economic** Recession and its Consequences

The slump in world trade (by about 40 per cent in the first quarter of 2009) led to a fall in exports from the South. Countries lying south of the Sahara were hit particularly hard, because they economically dependent on the export of raw materials, but India and China also saw their trade volume decrease by 50 per cent.

A further negative factor for many countries in the Southern Hemisphere was the surge in the cost of credit, which in turn led to a sharp increase in foreign debt, mostly in foreign currencies. This affected the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) the most. At the end of 2008, 31 countries were faced with medium to high debt and 10 countries could not levels. debt.²⁹ reimburse their Income countries developing was practically impossible to forecast due to currency fluctuations and the volatility of raw material prices.

Due to the strain on the economy in the industrial countries οf the North. investments in the South decreased. Between 2007 and 2008. private investments [in the Southern Hemisphere] went down by 50 per cent.

Not only have there been cutbacks in social infrastructure investments and welfare programmes, but also in development cooperation in Austria, Ireland and other European countries. In the coming years, when the time comes to reimburse national debt, women in Austria will also be affected: it is they who are the most dependent on the welfare state, due to the fact that they often have an irregular income. However, the situation will be much more dramatic for women in southern and eastern countries. They will feel the impact of the collapse of the system the most and for the longest period, despite their lack of involvement in the financial markets.

A further factor which will contribute towards an increase in poverty in the Southern Hemisphere is the fall in income from migrant remittances. In 2008, the money transferred by migrants totalled 3 billion US dollars, i.e. nearly three times the yearly development aid funds for these countries (see Chapter [no.]: The Crisis and its Effects on Migration, p. 13).

The World Bank predicts that 98 out of 104 developing countries will experience considerable balance of payment problems. The resulting gap may amount to up to 700 billion US dollars by the end of 2009. Per-capita income in the poor countries of the South had already dropped by six per cent on average between 2004 and 2007. In Africa, the situation in Sub-Saharan states and in the Caribbean is particularly worrying. The number of individuals living in absolute poverty and suffering from malnourishment has already exceeded one billion!

²⁷ UNCTAD 2009, p. 22

²⁸ EURODAD 2009

²⁹ United Nations 2008, E.08.I.17

Wealth and distribution

"Money is there. Where has the money all gone? To the rich. Don't believe anyone who tells you "We don't have any money". Over the past 30 years, we have done nothing but unburden the rich. Under President Eisenhower, topearners paid approximately 90 per cent tax. Today, the maximum tax rate in the USA is 35 per cent. And those who have the right lawyers and financial advisers pay nothing at all." (Susan George)³⁰

The economic crisis has affected almost all countries. In states that were already suffering from high unemployment and under-employment, the problem was exacerbated (at least in terms of paid work). According to the ILO's forecast published in October 2009, the number of unemployed in the world between 2007 and 2009 will have increased by 39 million people (the worst case scenario being an increase of 61 million people). The number of working poor will have gone up by 222 million people.31 Unemployment and under-employment rates will remain high for up to six years after the end of the crisis.32

Gender-Specific Outcomes and Consequences of the Crises

The gender-specific outcomes of the crisis vary greatly depending on the country and region. There are very few data on the effects of the economic crisis on women because all commonly accepted macroeconomic assessment systems do not take into account gender-specific issues. The ILO predicts that women in countries where female unemployment is already high and where women cannot easily access the formal labour market will be

particularly hit by higher unemployment and increased labour market barriers (North Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, and the Middle East).³³ An additional risk factor lies in the employment rates in export-oriented manufacturing plants that have been seriously affected by the recession (South East Asia).³⁴

During the crisis, [many] women have lost their badly-paid wage work and have had to resort to precarious and/or informal jobs. In addition, these new occupations are often a strain on women's health, due to long and irregular working hours, insufficient breaks, taxing work, the handling of chemicals and so on. In the case of jobs that are maintained despite the crisis, companies often use the economic circumstances as an excuse for worse working conditions and pay (e.g. multinational companies in China, Taiwan and Mexico). Shortage of cash also makes women take on extra work such as housework, childcare, home care, etc., leading to increased levels of physical and psychological stress.

One thing is certain: the crisis has hit the women in the Southern Hemisphere particularly hard. In that part of the world, women constitute up to 70 per cent of the poorest population classes because they have no backup to cushion the fall caused by the effects of the crisis.

Lacking Food Security

The fact that countries in the South have been suffering from continuous problems in terms of food security is especially drastic. The underlying causes are:

 unfair trade conditions (pressure to open up markets: dumping of subsidised foodstuffs from the North);

³² ILO 2009, GB.304/ESP/2

_

³⁰ George 2009 (translated from German)

³¹ ILO, 26.10.2009

³³ ILO, 26.10.2009

³⁴ Oxfam 2009

- food price volatility due to speculation with raw materials;
- insufficient measures in terms of environmental protection and climate change, provoking loss of arable land and crop yields;
- subsidies for large-scale agrobusinesses biofuel (e.g. production) and agricultural especially exports, from international financial institutions. instead of supporting small and mid-sized agricultural holdings that could ensure the countries' selfsufficiency.

In cases of food shortage, young girls are often fed less than their brothers and female adults have to give up their portions for their husbands and sons. The environment is also at risk because the will and opportunities to invest in alternative energies and environmental strategies have dropped. Women's traditional agricultural and environmental knowledge is being suppressed and lost due to the industrialisation of agriculture. At the same time, a considerable number of species are disappearing.

The trends described above lead to increase in child mortality as a result of malnourishment. Furthermore, negative impact can be felt on the healthcare system, because state funds have been cut and privatisations undertaken. This has many terrible effects on women: in Chile, women must pay three times more than men for their private health insurance because the risk of illness in women is considered higher.

Millennium Development Goals

Women and girls are the first victims of cutbacks in the education sector. Women's lower social status and their subservient role are the reasons behind depriving them of schooling, and this factor simply perpetuates their position. They are then

excluded from the formal labour market, do not have any political rights and become socially invisible. If Goal no. 3 of the Millennium Development Goals (the promotion of gender equality and the empowerment of women) is to become a reality, then the issues of institutional education and awareness-raising should be considered priorities – and this is precisely where international and national commitment seems to be lacking.

Given the facts described above, it is fundamental that gender specificities be taken into account and gender-specific suggestions be made for the fight against the crisis. At the same time, a change of perspective in long-term development policies should be aimed for. A recent rapid assessment study carried out by UNIFEM has analysed the background and current status of stimulus packages in ten countries in the Asia-Pacific region, and concluded that: "If seen as development instruments and not just short-term responses to the crisis, stimulus packages make far-reaching changes macroeconomic policy [...] to ensure that women's contributions to economic recovery and future growth are fully harnessed, and gender outcomes are achieved".35

The Crisis and its Effects on Migration

Women constitute nearly half of all international migrants. They often work in the services sector in the target countries (such as industrialised countries, Gulf States or emerging economies). They are employed both in the formal economy and, often, in the informal economy in healthcare, catering, cleaning companies, as cleaners or carers in private households, and as prostitutes. Large amounts of the money they earn are sent back to their families in their countries of origin through remittances. Thus, they often ensure their families' survival and represent important

³⁵ UNIFEM 2009

foreign currency earners for their countries.

Income losses of Bolivian migrants in

A recent study on the situation of Bolivian migrants in Spain has shown that the loss of income.

between \$1,360 and \$1,640 a month whereas in 2009 they only earned between \$680 and \$817. Many Bolivian migrants are domestic workers, most of whom have

migrants between 2003 and 2007 who were looking for a job abroad, 56% were regularly -albeit with lower amounts- and with a greater proportion of their earnings the Bolivian Gross National Income (GNI). Bolivian women send home around 40% of their income (with men remitting around 14%).

The fall in remittances transferred by migrants to their families was a predictable outcome of the global recession. In some regions, remittances had already dropped in 2008. This was the case for Latin America and the Caribbean, as a result of job losses in the USA, especially in construction. The World Bank forecasts a seven to ten per cent slump in remittances for 2009 compared to 2008. However, no gender-specific prediction was made and the data is based on very general economic forecasts.³⁶ Nevertheless, remittances represent a comparably stable income for developing countries, and a steady income for the families who remain in the countries of origin. As a comparison, it is interesting to note that the World Bank predicts that

foreign direct investment in developing countries will drop by 50 per cent.

Remittances generally have an immediate poverty-reducing effect, because they flow directly into private consumption, which in turn stimulates the local economy.

Migration Policies during the Crisis

Many countries, such as Australia, the Gulf States, Malaysia and Thailand, have reduced the amount of work visas they issue, thus leading to a decrease in legal immigration. EU member states have had restrictive migration policies for some time now, and have tended to tighten the rules. Some countries (e.g. Spain, Czech Republic) have set up financial measures to encourage migrants to return to their countries of origin. Countries with high emigration rates such as Pakistan, Bangladesh, the Philippines, Morocco and Sri Lanka are seeing a sharp increase in the number of migrants returning to their home country.37

Most migrants try to see the crisis through in the host countries, because work opportunities there are better. Restrictive migration policies are pushing migrants towards the informal economy, where they have formed a pool of cheap and flexible workers.

Female migrants are not the only ones to pay a high price for their precarious position at the heart of our global economic system. Their families, to whom they transfer desperately-needed money, are also affected when the transfers become more irregular, and developing countries suffer from increased unemployment.38

³⁷ IPS, 17.4.2009 ³⁸ Cf. Global Forum on Migration & Development 2009

³⁶ World Bank 2009

5. REVIEW: THE MEXICAN AND ASIAN FINANCIAL CRISES

An examination of past crises reveals various gender-specific aspects, which can stem from financial crises. Moreover, it becomes quite clear that the paradigms of radical free-market capitalism are no longer tenable.

The Mexican crisis – a typical example of wrong-headed economic orientation

During a previous debt crisis in Mexico (1982), the state slipped into a general deregulation of the labour market and labour legislation and, due to tax exemptions on all imports and exports, developed into a general free-trade area.

The maguila industry is an important element in this system. The development of export-oriented manufacturing industries - called maquiladoras in Central America - has been and continues to be accelerated by the argument that they create stable and sustainable employment and reduce poverty. For women in particular, this industry is viewed as an opportunity to get a start in remunerated employment and thus break down patriarchal structures. Women make up 70% to 90% of the workforce in the maquila industry. However, consequences that the Mexican crisis (1995-2001) has had for women refute the aforementioned appraisal. Women's salaries in maquiladoras since 2006 are 40-60% lower than in 1982.

The political prediction that this industry would create sustainable formal employment has, to date, not yet come to pass – in fact, quite the contrary. The *maquila* industry is growing independent of the Mexican economy: 97% of materials only pass through the country for further processing. The individual steps in the production process are outsourced to a whole chain of sub-contractors, right down to the home worker, and are thus moved

into an area unregulated by labour law. There are no noticeable attempts being made to improve the competitiveness of the employees by the means of apprenticeships or trainings. Women are still engaged in monotonous work on assembly lines. *Maquiladoras* are based on the prevailing patriarchal value system, which allows them to impose lower salaries, marginal chances of promotion, and a structural discrimination of women. The *maquila* industry is a feminised industrial sector; the only masculinised sectors are the ones which are modern, innovative, and very labour unintensive.

During the Mexican crisis (1995-2001), women in the textile industry were the most affected by job losses (26.3%).40 The capital-intensive electronics sector, where mostly men are employed, managed to overcome the crisis more quickly. Only the sub-contracting firms which supply the world market and do not produce any final goods were hit by disproportionate job losses, even in the electronics industry. Women working in this sector were particularly affected by massive waves of dismissals. At the same period, the income gap between men and women grew larger. Whilst the income of women workers in 2000 was 8% lower than their male colleagues, this gap rose to 13.2% in 2003.41

The situation was worsened by a decline in purchasing power. In 1982, the purchasing power of the minimal wage corresponded to 93.5% of a basket of goods for a family of five. By 2004, it had fallen to 16.98% of the same basket. The minimum wage lost over 84% of its purchasing power. 42 At least 960 factories closed down between

9

³⁹ Interview with Qintero Ramírez; quoted by: Spitzer 2006

⁴⁰ cf. men: 22,4%, www.inegi.gob.mex [20.05.2006], quoted by Spitzer 2006

⁴¹ National Statistical Institute, Mexico, www.inegi.gob.mex [20.05.2006], quoted by Spitzer 2006

⁴² Centro de Análisis Multidisciplinario

2001 and 2003.⁴³ By threatening to relocate, companies were able to impose favourable conditions for their businesses. Under the pressure of massive unemployment, trade unions were forced to accept cuts in wages and social benefits. In some factories, they were cut by 60% overnight.⁴⁴

The Asian crisis: the stereotype of the 'principal earner'

Mexico is not unusual in this. All around the world, economic crises bring about similar consequences for women workers. In the context of a patriarchal social and economic order, the feminisation of and increase the poverty an in informalisation of female labour are immediate consequences of a crisis. In this type of social order, men are seen as the 'principal earners'. Women's economic contribution remains invisible. Because of this perception, women often work in atypical, precarious, and informal working conditions, with few or no legal safeguards, and are paid less for the same work. They are therefore more profoundly affected by poverty. During the Asian crisis, for instance, it was mainly women who were laid off. In Thailand, 53%⁴⁵ of wage-earning women lost their jobs and, in Korea, women were laid off 7 times more often men.⁴⁶ Married women dismissed more often than married men. The number of employed women dropped by nearly 20%, whereas only 6.3% of men lost their regular employment. Whilst 330,000 women were driven out of the Korean labour market, 150,000 men got access to new opportunities in the labour market. For many women, informal or nonremunerated work⁴⁷ is the only chance to make a living.

Women are forced to play a predominant role in overcoming the crisis. In the Philippines for instance, unemployment rose nearly equally for men and women. The number of hours worked also dropped for men, whereas those of women rose. This can be partially explained by the fact that women worked informally at home, providing a unique alternative for suppliers of big international corporations in particular. In Indonesia, women compensated for both their job loss and that of their husbands by increasingly taking on informal work and producing goods for their own home (clothes for instance).48

The path to informalisation

most dramatic consequence of economic and financial crises has proved to be the increasing deregulation of the labour market. Work has become progressively more flexible and precarious, and atypical and informal forms of labour have been recognised by law. 49 During the boom times in both Latin America and Asia, neither the political world nor the trade unions were interested in raising salaries or establishing a sustainable social system. On the contrary, in all these countries, economic growth was accompanied by an intensive phase of deregulation of labour legislation and a degradation of workers' rights. In the worst times of crisis, both trade unions and wage earners were at the mercy of companies, and were forced to accept the loss of their rights, wage cuts, and a reduction of investment in apprenticeships and training.

The informalisation and degradation of responsibility in terms of labour and social legislation was witnessed in many regions during the crisis. In Thailand and South

_

⁴³ National Statistical Institute , Mexico, www.inegi.gob.mex, [15.05.2006], zit. n. Spitzer 2006

⁴⁴ Interview with the trade unionist Sergio Carreno; in: Spitzer 2006, quoted: Spitzer 2006

⁴⁵ Dragsbaek Schmidt 2008, p. 143

⁴⁶ Seguino 2009

ILO 2009 (Asia in the Global Economic Crisis)
 ELSON 2002

⁴⁹ Dragsbaek Schmidt 2008, p. 143

Korea, outsourcing was used to reduce the costs of social benefits, direct hiring was avoided, and the use of temporary employment was increased to eliminate any responsibility for the employer. Shortterm contracts without social benefits became the norm. In Thailand, this cataclysm lead to a proportion of 'selfemployed' and family workers equal to 53% of all employees. 50 In Mexico, elderly female employees were particularly affected by dismissals as they were considered too cost-intensive companies. Because training is lacking and is not provided by companies, these women were interchangeable. They could no longer be part of formal working life.

-

⁵⁰ ILO 2007: 20

6. WHO IS PAYING FOR THE CRISIS?

The global turmoil experienced by the international economic system, which started as a financial crisis, was partly seen as a chance to reshape the world economy and politics in a sustainable manner. However, the hope that the most urgent problems – worldwide poverty, climate change, discrimination against women – would be placed at the forefront of crisismanagement measures very soon disappeared.

Most industrial countries came up with economic stimulus packages to fight the crisis. Since mainly men's jobs were threatened in these countries, vast amounts of money were devoted to supporting key industries (scrappage incentive schemes for instance), the building sector (infrastructural measures), and regional employment measures. These measures mainly benefited the employees in the industry and building sector – i.e. predominantly men.

In most industrial countries, women have indeed been less affected by unemployment up to now, but part-time employment has been rising. Experience of past crises shows that if the situation deteriorates in the service sector, unemployment rates amongst women will rise. There is the risk of women being increasingly relegated to non-remunerated work. Investing in the social sector and increasing financing for research and development or the thermal refurbishment of buildings are steps in the right direction; such measures have a social, ecological and sustainable aspect. Otherwise, incredible sums have been raised to keep everything as it is.

The income gap between men and women, climate change, and the aggravation of poverty caused by the crisis in the countries of the South and the East hardly

feature in the consideration of European governments on how to fight the crisis. WIDE fears that cuts to areas in which measures to boost the economy could have sustainable socio-political effects will increase – i.e. in social services, nursing care, health and education, in the aid to non-governmental initiatives and above all to development aid – because state debt means a higher interest rate and must obviously be reduced in the following years.

An inevitable tax reform

The enormous debts which states have incurred as a consequence of saving the financial system cannot possibly be settled unless there is an increase in tax revenue. Reduction of expenses alone- by means of the constantly suggested administrative reform, for instance - would not enable such sums to be raised. Caution is therefore advisable if debts are to be eliminated by reducing public expenditure, as such cuts are usually made to the detriment of the benefits granted by the welfare state - i.e. to the detriment of those who need it most. These are people at the lower end of the income pyramid migrants, children, the unemployed, the elderly, and marginalized social groups. Women in these groups are disproportionally affected by this problem. These people are certainly not the ones caused the crisis who but thev nevertheless suffer greatly from its consequences.

The consolidation of national budgets was supposed to bring about an adequate taxation of the tremendous rise in income the richest 10% of the population have experienced in the past few years. This is also true for behaviours, products, and technologies which are socially unacceptable and damaging for the environment and climate.

Tax revenue is essential for the functioning of a state. Public expenditure for

education, health, nursing care, assistance, infrastructure, and administration must be financed by taxes. Moreover, the tax system must be redistributive: the aim should be to offset unequal chances in life and to enable all people within the state's sphere of action to lead a life that lives up to human rights. In the process, it is important to keep in mind that because of their often precarious living conditions, women particularly depend on the redistributive effect of taxation (negative tax).

Furthermore, rich countries must contribute substantially to international solidarity. The commitment to increase development aid to 0.7% of the gross national income (GNI) which was made decades ago must at long last be upheld. Moreover, the tax system has a controlling function – pressure should be taken off desirable types of behaviour whilst undesirable behaviours should be taxed more heavily (tax on pollution, cigarettes, etc.).

On the role of the state

'The acceptance of market ideology was pushed through by using an offensive strategy of depreciation and denunciation of the notion of the state as an economic and politico-economic stakeholder. What was thus depreciated, lost and above all not significantly developed was the knowledge of what the economic role of the state could be, how this should be justified by economic theory and how this role could be democratised on the political-process level.'

(Luise Gubitzer)⁵¹

In crisis times, many businesses first cut down on labour for financial reasons, which means the state loses tax revenue from more than one source: tax and social contributions from formal employment as well as tax revenue from indirect tax

⁵¹ Gubitzer 2009 (translated from German)

resulting from the drop in purchasing power.

These negative issues arising from the economic crisis have specific consequences for women. Besides having to cope with the loss of their jobs and incomes – and that of their partners – they have to manage the growing tasks and burdens in terms of non-remunerated activities which fall on them. When the state withdraws from its social function, such services have to be provided privately and often for free. However, indirect taxes on vital goods and services still have to be paid by all citizens – rich and poor alike.

The state's tremendous debt burden stems from bank rescues, tax reforms, economic stimulus packages and the lower tax income resulting from the crisis, which, in turn, makes new tax reforms inevitable. Women's organisations should concentrate in detail on how this reform can protect the rights of women and the environment and carried be out with responsibility in mind. They should join forces with other non-governmental networks to enforce their interests.

How fair are tax systems?

Across the world, women only have a minor share of global assets. This is mainly due to their higher-than-average participation in non-remunerated home and care work.

Tax revenue in Austria

The majority of the Austrian tax revenue stems from taxation of paid employment and from VAT, which is spread equally amongst citizens, rich or poor. This disadvantages the socially deprived, as VAT is not staggered according to income.

Taxes on income, capital growth or businesses, however, only represent a fraction of tax revenue. In this respect, taxes on income cannot really be considered as mass taxation; the top 10%

of wealthy Austrians possess over half of the total gross financial assets.⁵² The distribution of real estate is even more unequal, with the top 10% possessing over 60% of the total real estate.⁵³ According to the Austrian magazine *Trend*, there are 25 (dollar) billionaires in Austria.⁵⁴ The number of millionaires oscillates between 60,000 and 70,000.

Globalisation has resulted in taxes going beyond the national scale, as the business done by global financial players crosses boundaries. Nevertheless, countries still have considerable leeway in tax policy. Changing the Austrian tax system by exonerating the labour factor and reducing indirect taxes on vital goods and services as well as raising taxes on assets to correspond to European average rates would have a positive effect. There is an urgent need to make changes within the EU, to organise an international initiative to close tax havens, to tax financial transactions on an international level to avoid new financial and economic crises, and to work for fairer taxation.

Currently, the members of the EU are engaging in a race to the bottom to attract international corporations, in spite of their readiness to praise the idea of a community based on mutual solidarity. Because of group taxation of international corporations, profits can be accumulated in places with hardly any taxes and losses in countries with higher rates. The situation is particularly critical in 'poor' countries as the pressure exerted by multinational companies to be granted tax breaks or tax-free zones is considerably higher.

The members of the EU have undertaken to audit all state income sources with regard to gender, i.e. to compare the different effects of their tax policy on men and women. To make certain that this

assertion does not remain lip service, gender budgeting must be institutionalised in all EU countries and extended to budgetary support in development aid.

At any rate, however, national governments remain the first intermediary when it comes to fiscal measures.

_

⁵² Mooslechner *et al.* 2009 Fessler *et al.*. 2009

⁵³ Fessler *et al*. 2009

⁵⁴ cf. Oe24.at 2009

7. MEASURES AT THE INTERNATIONAL **LEVEL**

Both the current global financial and economic crisis and the past food, energy and climate crises show that it is not enough to simply allocate more funds to development within a global system which is itself the main cause of these crises. Rather, it is necessary to undertake a comprehensive reform of the international financial and economic system to fight poverty and inequality in the long term, including an international agreement on the procedure to adopt against tax havens and tax evasion, the equal participation of the countries of the South in the management of the World Bank (WB) and the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and the allocation of a mandate to the United Nations (UN) to coordinate the necessary steps towards reform. 55 What is needed is not an 'answer on the part of a G-20 but of a G-192'!56

The crisis as a chance for a new development architecture?

ending with the world in the throes of the an era of unregulated financial capital. he preceding years of economic triumphalism among the neoliberals included a decade of deregulation liberalization espoused by the Washington been sharp increases in poverty, inequality

current crisis also gives the world a historic ideas, institutions and policies towards a development architecture".

During the UN conference on Financing for Development, which took place from 29 November to 2 December 2008 in Doha and was already marked by multiple international crises, the United Nations undertook the analysis of the situation and of the proposals for reform. NGOs and women's networks contributed with many suggestions, of which only a very few were taken up; however, the commitment to an equal treatment of women through 'gender budgeting' inter alia found its way into the final document.

The main outcome of the 2008 Doha conference was the resolution to accept the financial crisis and its consequences as a central challenge and to call a UN conference on the 'World Financial and Economic Crisis and its Impact on Development', which took place from 24 to 26 June 2009 in New York. In the run-up to the conference, a commission chaired by Joseph Stiglitz⁵⁸ (the US Nobel Prize laureate for Economics) was called to formulate reform proposals, to which many NGOs (amongst them WIDE and the 'Women's Working Group on Financing for Development') contributed with their suggestions. 59 And yet, the conference did not provide the far-reaching reforms of the global financial system that had been hoped for. The proposition of creating a legitimated democratically authority governed by the UN to regulate the international financial system (in the form of a 'Global Economic Council'), which

⁵⁵ cf. KOO (2008)

⁵⁶ WIDE (2009)

⁵⁷ Durano *et al.* 2009

⁵⁸ cf. United Nations 2009c

⁵⁹ cf. UN NGLS 2009

would eventually replace the inflexible IMF, was not taken up. The elaboration of other reform proposals was recently delegated to a work group whose authority industrial countries wish to limit as much as possible. These industrial countries call for summits with the main economic powers (with occasional expansions, such as the G-20) and the international financial institutions, in which their representation is disproportionally high.

But to deal fairly with the problems of the countries in the South and thus the majority of women there too, it is necessarv to develop concrete. comprehensive, long-term development strategies which are not confined to shortterm economic stimulus programmes. These should be based on the respect of human rights and thus conform with social and gender equality and ecological sustainability. In the field of women's rights, the CEDAW ('Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women'), the 'Beijing Platform for Action', the 'Economical, Social, and Cultural Human Rights' policies and the stipulations of the International Labour Organisation (ILO) are the most important regulations. In order to do this, funds for development aid must be increased substantially and measures must be taken to adapt to the consequences of climate change (with a 'polluter-pays' policy and as a social transfer from rich to poor countries). NGOs have many suggestions to raise additional funds, i.e. by means of a financial transactions. strengthened prosecution of tax evasion, a 'value-creation tax', a wealth tax, or an eco-tax.

The example of Brazil is particularly interesting. Brazil, which is currently considered a strong 'emerging market', defended itself in October 2009 against the influx of high-speculation financial capital and the revaluation of the Brazilian

currency by introducing a 2% tax on foreign financial investments (share or bond investments, direct investments not included). (The rate suggested for the tax on financial transactions, on the other hand, was only a mild 0.1 to 0.01%... 62)

A lot of money could be raised if there were greater international cooperation and coordination of tax systems to avoid tax evasion which deprives developing countries of several hundred billion dollars every year. 63 By putting an end to this tax competition and tax dumping, and by taxing transnational corporations consistently, all states could benefit from these measures and recover their capacity to act, which has been continually undermined in the past decades.

Simultaneously, it is imperative to introduce a transparent, fair debt-relief procedure, and to negotiate responsible lending guidelines to avoid debt traps and illegitimate debts (accumulated by dictatorships, for instance). On principle, we should turn away from financing development through loans to favour social transfers.

For WIDE, it is key that failed politico-economic strategies are not perpetuated, but that this situation is instead perceived as an opportunity to question global economic conventions, and that any new considerations are based on a feminist analysis of macroeconomics. ⁶⁴ This is also what the feminist work group 'Women's Working Group on Financing for Gender Equality' is calling for. The crisis of legitimation the financial system has gone through must be exploited for a feminist, social and green 'New Deal', i.e. for the redistribution of remunerated and non-remunerated work, for investments in

⁶⁰ cf. GSEG 2009

⁶¹ *Der Standard*, 20.11.2009, p. 28

⁶² cf. Schulmeister 2009

⁶³ cf. EU-Plattform *et al*. 2009, p. 10f and KOO 2008

⁶⁴ Women's Working Group on Financing for Development (2009)

social infrastructures and education, and for the development of ecologically sustainable technologies and sustainable economic activities.

8. A CALL FOR A BROADER VIEW OF ECONOMICS

Economics as an end itself

One of the causes of the outbreak of the crisis is the quasi-religious absolutisation of the market as 'omnipotent' and 'omniscient'. The free play of market forces, cut loose from any social and ecological considerations, were believed to 'bring universal happiness'.

Carefree growth

'To multiply (its) profits exponentially, the capitalist economy must grow and cost as little as possible. This is precisely why, on the one hand, the evident limits to growth have been ignored and, on the other hand, social and ecological costs have been externalised from the market as much as possible and shifted onto individuals, social benefits, and onto the environment. The pressure is piled onto wages and performance, the social protection system is reduced to the minimum or not even set up, industrial production and consumption guzzle more and more energy, water, and other resources. These economic costs are not factored into pricing, which is what makes goods on the markets so cheap and globalised capitalism so attractive to consumers. The more the state withdraws from the markets in accordance with the neoliberal doctrine, the less it is possible to control and regulate what risks are being shifted onto social and natural conditions.'

(Christa Wichterich)⁶⁵

With such a narrow understanding of the basics of economics and this idea of an 'homo economicus' whose sole motivation is to maximise profit, there is a risk of economics becoming an end in itself. Even the assumption that positive economic

development (according to traditional performance data) means that the population is doing well is not sustainable. How else do you explain the phenomenon of 'jobless growth', especially in economies based on raw materials? In South Africa, for instance, a million jobs have been cut since the end of Apartheid (1994) and poverty is still rising in spite of stable economic data and more or less continuous economic growth over the past few years.

To a large extent, it is women who have been compensating, with their agricultural subsistence production, which indeed appears nowhere in official economic statistics but is nevertheless feeding the population. In Africa, 90% of staple foods and over 30% of market crops are produced by women. The narrow perspective offered by the capitalist economy and its ambition to achieve maximum profit with minimum use of funds ignores parts of the economy which are vital and indispensable to all.

A broader understanding of economics

Feminist political theories, in contrast, have a broader perspective of economics, as they also include in their analysis what one calls the 'household sector' or 'reproduction sector', which is traditionally mainly assigned to women. Although this sector is at the root of traditional economic sectors, it often gets 'forgotten' by conventional economic theories.

For the purpose of a global perspective, feminist economists talk of 'life-world economy'. Economy is thus defined as 'the sphere of social activities which are related to the provision of the goods and services which can maintain life and support its output.'⁶⁷ This definition also places a particular emphasis upon the importance of the care economy as 'care work is a practice which is essential to life and

⁶⁵ Wichterich 2009e (translated from German)

⁶⁶ Schäfer 2002

⁶⁷ Nelson 2007

without which society would not be viable and economic growth impossible.'68

The division of work and power

That the economic sector described above is assigned to woman is no coincidence but rather the result of the division of work and power in our patriarchal society. A feminist approach provides a critical view of these power hierarchies and examines the discriminatory hierarchy between 'prestigious' gainful employment and 'unprestigious' unpaid, mainly female, care work. By way of precaution, feminist economics also include the social and ecological processes which evolve within national economies. These are excluded from the markets and kept invisible by logics of growth and profit. Social and ecological costs which result from traditional economic activities are ignored and imposed on the individual indirectly by the state. One cannot see why an economic system should be allowed to destroy the environment and thus the living conditions of future generations and then shift the costs for rehabilitation from its own economic circuit.

Redistribution and re-evaluation of work

'Something must change in the work system in its totality. And in order for this change to take place, we must examine the entire work system, i.e. gainful employment, along with the non-remunerated work which provides for all members of society on a daily basis. (...) It is important for the markets of gainful employment that work is re-evaluated; this cannot be analysed separately from the category of gender and the systemic discrimination of women. If something is to change in the way work is exploited, I would firmly advocate for a redistribution and re-evaluation of work. The idea is that each member of society should take on partly care work and partly remunerated

work. The extreme relation which exists between gender and work, and especially that which exists between care work and women, must be revoked. These norms must also be abolished in the employment markets, where a strong gender segmentation still prevails. (...)"

(Christa Wichterich)⁶⁹

Consequences of the crisis in the care sector

The economic crisis has had direct consequences in the area of reproduction, as shown by studies examining the increasing neglect of children and youngsters whose mothers cannot fulfil their roles as carers because they are overburdened by badly-paid work. In many cases, nobody stands in for them; the partner is absent or is not prepared to do any of the care work.

The current debates on care work also reveal a number of problems, such as the pressure to cut costs and the precarious situation of the labour force in nursing professions. It is necessary to adopt an integrally feminist political approach which also includes an analysis of gender relations and accounts for the imbalance between remunerated and unremunerated work. The particular nature of care work must be taken into account; it cannot be measured against the same efficiency criteria as in production sectors. This requires a change of mentality within society, especially with regard to social costs, and postulates a new culture of human relations.⁷⁰

68 Madörin 2006

⁶⁹ Quote DieStandard, 22.9.2009 (translated from German)

⁷⁰ Madörin 2006 (translated from German)

Economic production and the care economy

'In the past few decades, industry has operated in a more and more productive manner. Workers or primary school teachers must work many more hours to buy a car or a pair of shoes than fifty years ago. By using machines, it is possible to produce more and more, more and more quickly, and more and more cheaply. However, this is not possible in nursing or medical consultations. Tending a patient takes time; there are no ways of increasing productivity, and this is why these services become increasingly expensive compared to the manufacture of goods, unless salaries are reduced. This explains why health costs are rising disproportionately. In political spheres, this is exploited shamelessly to reduce the number of services and to discipline people. [To finance a good care infrastructure we need] ... a strong state which is ready to finance the social infrastructure through taxes. This is the case in Scandinavian countries, and up to now, they have coped with globalisation far better than other countries.'

(Mascha Madörin)⁷¹

The care crisis in Northern countries (ageing populations, declining growth) has lead to another type of care crisis in the countries of Eastern Europe and in the South – exactly the regions from which women migrate to find work as carers abroad. The children they leave behind are mainly looked after by female relatives – grandmothers, aunts, sisters – thus simply shifting non-remunerated or badly-paid care work onto other members of the female community.

In many countries of the South – especially in the southern parts of Africa – there has been an acute care crisis for years which is mainly due to HIV/AIDS. It is primarily

women who commit themselves to looking after ill people and feeding orphans, often within the family but also on a voluntary basis (or, as in South Africa, for a modest remuneration through 'stipends') - all organised through local support networks.⁷² For all these services, there is a lack of adequate funding. Moreover, it remains unclear whether the medical assistance with antiretroviral drugs which has been set up in the past years can be developed further, as, despite ambitious objectives and great achievements, not all who need it have access to healthcare. Furthermore, the disastrous nutritional situation has lead to people often not being able to tolerate medication.

A similar situation can be found in the field of sexual and reproductive healthcare. In this field also, assistance must be developed massively, especially to give girls and women in rural areas in the countries of the South access to various services and healthcare. Improving the food situation is in this regard also extremely important.

Turning away from the growth paradigm

Ecological and feminist critical views coincide on several points, such as the analysis of the externalisation of ecological and social costs in a capitalist system and the criticism of the growth paradigm. The latter has remained, despite the sensational reports of the 'Club of Rome' in the 1970s on 'The Limits to Growth', an unquestioned dogma in mainstream economics and politics.⁷³

The established economic and monetary system follows the assumption of limitless growth which cannot occur in nature without the destruction of organisms (humans, animals, plants) or inanimate – especially fossil – resources. 'This is exactly the model our money follows, as investments regularly double through

⁷³ cf. Ökonomischer Wachstumsdialog 2009

⁷² UNRISD 2009

⁷¹ Madörin 2009

interest and interest on interest. ... The problem is that the interest – an important type of profit in our economy – sets the limits to what we consider 'profitable'. If we do not at least earn interest, the investment is not profitable. This means that the economy must aim for exponential growth and the gap between monetary value and real economy (...) will grow ever larger (...).'⁷⁴

From a 'care-free' to a 'care-full' economy

"Interpreting the 'financial crisis' as an accident, an inadvertent lapse, would mean mistaking its character and the challenges it harbours. What is the nature of this crisis and what pushed us into it? (...)

If an economy is aimed at performance (achieving as much as possible while using as little as possible) and profit maximisation, it tends to consume natural and social commodities as resources. These resources must be as cheap as possible, if not free. In order to create value, there must be something valueless, something to exploit. And there can be no responsibility for the exploited 'material', its quality, or its capacity for regeneration. The feminist critical approach demands that this preposterous inversion be inverted back again. The aim of economic activity is to provide the broad population with daily necessities. Economic activity is based on the guiding principle of care. Care and assistance are practices which preserve the planet, enable it to survive, and reconstitute it in a way that people can live on it in the best possible way. (...)

What results from this way of thinking is more than the simple containment of the current financial crisis. Rather, it is the position that all economic activity must be transformed and renewed – from a 'carefree' to a 'care-full' economy – which is mainly based on the remunerated or non-

remunerated care and supply work of women "

(Uta von Winterfeld)⁷⁵

The feminist economy therefore demands a general change of mentality!

The aim is, therefore, not to reinstate the failed financial system and thus endanger the real economy with new speculative transactions. On the contrary: economy should go back to fulfilling its original function of assuring the survival of the human race, in a humane way. In this process, the sectors of the reproductive-, care- and provision-driven economy should be massively strengthened, along with the subsistence economy. The latter plays a major role in ensuring the survival of rural populations in Eastern Europe, Asia, Africa, and Latin America. Indeed, the crisis greatly affects those self-provision structures which compete against commercial agriculture for resources such as ground, water, and public assistance. Women and children in the countries in the South are most affected by the systematic destruction of this self-sufficient economy. This is made even worse by the extreme burden of climate change, which is caused by industrial countries and can be felt most in tropical areas which are experiencing drought, floods, tropical storms, etc.

What we need is to turn away from the growth paradigm. From a feminist point of view, it is necessary to focus on providing people with vital goods and to give them access to resources and social services. All the same, it is necessary to consider the different levels of development between North and South as well as the on-going (albeit slower) population growth in developing countries: whilst in industrial countries, the change of mentality should be aimed at a zero-growth rate, developing and emerging countries should maintain the right to economic growth. However, as

⁷⁴ Kennedy 2008

⁷⁵ Winterfeld 2009 (translated from German)

many resource-efficient technologies as possible should be used so that the fatal mistakes of industrial capitalist growth are not repeated.

Only adopting this view of the economy and economic activity in context can enable us to find sustainable approaches which would empower us to cope with the situation.

9. WAYS OUT OF THE FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC CRISIS

The preceding analyses of the global financial and economic crisis have provided far-reaching **possible approaches** and **concrete proposals** on various levels.

The first and most important step is a radical change of mentality.

Instead of a global casino, what we need is:

- ✓ to depose the 'homo economicus' and the unbridled free-market economy
- ✓ an economy which focuses on ensuring a good life for all instead of on profit maximisation
- ✓ to turn away from the growth paradigm
- the awareness that social equality contributes to the well-being of all citizens
- ✓ a redistribution of the existing work (reduction of working hours, fair distribution of remunerated and non-remunerated care work between genders)
- ✓ a re-evaluation of work (i.e. upper income limits)
- ✓ an economic understanding of the care economy as part of the global economy, as it provides a basis for all economic activity
- the recognition of the value of subsistence economy, which in many rural regions in the South is practised by women and enables them to feed their families
- ✓ to rethink employment policy the cost of the crisis should not be

- shifted onto migrants and their families in their countries of origin!
- ✓ to turn away from an economic system which externalises social and ecological costs
- ✓ the recognition and re-evaluation
 of the role and work of women in
 all areas of life
- the awareness of the fact that we all, in the course of our lives, go through phases where we are dependent on other people and are not always comparably productive
- ✓ the recognition of the importance of social protection systems, education, science, and culture across the whole of society
- the recognition of how important the protection of the environment and ecologically sustainable economic activities are for the future
- ✓ an awareness of the fact that we cannot live on credit for ever
- an understanding of women's and human rights as the basis for any of our economic activities

Proposals for European national governments

 Democratisation of the regulation of banks and financial markets: women and their interests must be included into the process of reform; quotas for women in politico-economic decision-making bodies (supervisory bodies, ministry of finance and economy, central banks) must be implemented

- The establishment of accountability on European and national financial markets
- Global gender auditing of all tax revenue and public expenditure ('gender budgeting')
- Surveys on time budgets which place a value on the contribution to the GNI of non-remunerated house and care work (usually done by women) and thus make this work visible
- Tax reform to cope with the costs of the crisis, for necessary longterm investments in the social and and educational sector. for increased development aid. Reduction of taxes on earned income, reintroduction of the stock transfer tax, introduction of a 'value-creation tax', recording and taxing of all large estates, taxation on capital growth, environmental taxes (i.e. a greater tax burden for motorised individual traffic or for power consumption), loosening of bank secrecy even for Austrian citizens (prerequisite for taxation of financial assets), considerable financial participation of stakeholders in the financial markets towards the costs of the crisis
- Development of the public health, care, and pension insurance systems, discontinuation of tax shelters for private pension insurance, return from private retirement plans to public systems based on contribution
- Stimulus packages for the care economy: increase of salaries in specifically feminine service sectors, especially in the personal care sector; creation of new jobs; assistance to women (i.e. basic

- pension, unconditional social protection)
- Reduction of working hours and comprehensive wage adjustment
- Formalisation of informal employment, especially in households (minimum wage, social protection, residence permits)
- No nationalism in employment policy: abolition of the workpermit system in Austria (a residence permit should automatically permit legal work)
- Increase in public development cooperation with the South to 0.7% of GNI and allocation of additional funds to fight the consequences of climate change and of the economic, energy and food crises
- Commitment to coherence between the aims of development aid and foreign trade policy (in consideration of women's and human rights)
- Control of the curricula of business schools on the importance given to social, development, gender, and ecological questions in teaching and research, and the challenging of heterodox economics

Proposals for the European Union

- Radical reduction or even prohibition of speculation in vital goods and services such as food, power, land, real estate
- Strict regulations on derivatives or even prohibition of inscrutable 'innovative' financial products
- Participation of civil society in the reregulation and democratisation of financial markets; quotas for women and gender mainstreaming

- in all bodies which are working on restructuring the financial system
- Introduction of a tax on financial transactions within the EU
- End of the 'race to the bottom' for taxes and the closure of all tax havens in the EU (extension of the EU tax directive to all types of financial income, all legal entities and EU members including associated territories; obligation to declare all estate and privileges; country-specific reporting by multinational companies)
- Moratorium on the bilateral freetrade agreements in the EU
- More funds for specific activities contributing to the equal treatment and support of women in development aid

International

- Expansion of the role of the United Nations as a democratic body in negotiations on politico-economic questions and re-evaluation of ECOSOC
- Sufficient endowment of the new UN 'Gender Equality Entity'
- Integration of developing countries in the reform of the global financial architecture, including parliaments, local public structures, and civil societies

- Creation of a supranational monetary system (instead of the US dollar as a key currency)
- Closing of tax havens (beyond current OECD activities)
- International cooperation to prevent tax evasion and to obviate illegal financial flows (transparency, exchange of data, harmonisation)
- Taxation of multinationals in the country of value creation
- Support to developing countries by financing public social systems and implementing socially balanced tax systems
- Introduction of responsible financing principles to avoid illegitimate debts and debt traps
- Introduction of an independent insolvency procedure
- Moratorium for multilateral freetrade agreements (control of their respect for economic, social, and cultural human rights)
- Control of the respect for employment and human rights by businesses
- Implementation of the concept of food sovereignty

ACRONYMS

CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women

CIDSE International Network of Catholic Development Agencies

CONCORD European NGO Confederation for Relief and Development

DAW UN Division for the Advancement of Women

ECB European Central Bank

ECOSOC UN Economic and Social Council

FAO UN Food and Agriculture Organisation

FSI Financial Secrecy Index

G-20 Group of the 20 most important industrialised and developing countries

GDI Gross Domestic Income

HIPC Heavily Indebted Poor Countries

IFI International Financial Institutions

ILO International Labour Organisation

INSTRAW UN International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women

IMF International Monetary Fund

KOO Austrian Episcopal Conference for International Development and Mission

MDGs Millennium Development Goals

OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

OSAGI Office of the Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women

PRSPs Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers

UN United Nations

UNCTAD UN Conference on Trade and Development

UNIFEM UN Development Fund for Women

UN-NGLS Non Governmental Liaison-Service

UNRISD UN Research Institute for Social Development

WB World bank

WTO World Trade Organisation

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- African Monitor (2008): Poverty Hearings, www.africanmonitor.org
- ATTAC (2009): Fair Steuern Mehr für Alle, http://www.attac.at/fairsteuern.html
- ATTAC (2009): Schattenfinanzindex: ATTAC kritisiert Beschwichtigungsversuche (2.11.2009), http://www.attac.at/8398.html
- Braun, Günter (2009): Treppenwitz der Geschichte. In: Der Standard, 16.12.2009, p. 35
- Centro de Análisis Multidisciplinario (CAM) de la Facultad de Economía, UNAM (2004): La Política Salarial y la Canasta Básica de los Trabajadores en el Gobierno Neoliberal de Fox en México. [Reporte de Investigación No. 66] In: http://www.economia.unam.mx/cam/index.html
- CONCORD (2009): Lighten the load. In a time of crisis, European Aid has never been more important. European Aid Watch Report, Brussels
- Daniel, John; Adam Habib, Roger Southall (Ed.): "State of the Nation; South Africa 2003-2004" HSCR Press
- Die Presse (2009): Schattenfinanzindex: Österreich zählt zu Steueroasen, 01.11.2009, http://diepresse.com/home/wirtschaft/economist/518731/index.do
- Dragsbaek Schmidt, Johannes (2008): Finanzkrise, Sozialkrise und ungleiche Entwicklung in Südkorea und Thailand. In: Küblböck/Staritz: Asienkrise: Lektionen gelernt? Wien 2008
- Dombrovskis, Valdis (im Interview): "Ein Drittel Gehaltsverlust ist die Norm". In: Der Standard, 31.10./1.11.2009, S. 2
- Durano, Marina; Gigi Francisco & Gita Sen (2009): Reclaiming Institutional and Policy Space Amidst Crisis, http://www.dawnnet.org/research-analyses.php?theme=1&id=20
- Elson, Diane (2002): International Financial Architecture: A View from the kitchen, http://www.eclac.org/mujer/curso/elson1.pdf [10.11.2009]
- EU-Plattform, Globale Verantwortung u. a. (2009): Jenseits von Almosen. Entwicklung finanzieren, Strukturen verändern, Wien
- EURODAD: From London to Pittsburgh: assessing G20 action for developing countries, 16. September 2009, http://www.eurodad.org/aid/article.aspx?id=132&item=3820
- Fessler, P. et al. (2009): Das Immobilienvermögen privater Haushalte in Österreich. In: Geldpolitik und Wirtschaft Q2/09, Wien, OeNB, 104-124
- Gabriel, Klaus (2009): "Ethik und Geld. Soziale und ökonomische Dimensionen des Finanzmarktes vor dem Hintergrund der aktuellen Finanzkrise", unveröff. (Vortrag am 22.5.2009, für die Generalversammlung der Vereinigung des Katholischen Buchhandels, Illmitz)
- George, Susan: "30 Jahre nur die Reichen entlastet". In: Der Standard, 27.10.2009, http://derstandard.at/1256255876802/Mitbegruenderin-von-Attac-30-Jahre-nur-die-Reichen-entlastet
- Global Forum on Migration & Development (2009): OnLine Dialogue "The economic crisis, return migration and poverty", http://www.gfmd2009.org/153/section.aspx/112

- Global Social Economy Group (GSEG): Press Release of 26 June 09: Representatives voice unhappiness with proposed solutions for economic crisis at United Nations, http://www.ffdngo.org/news/gseg-press-release-26-june-09representatives-voice-unhappiness-proposed-solutions-economic-cris
- Globale Verantwortung (2009): Aid Watch Report 2009: Österreichische Regierung lässt Menschen in den Entwicklungsländern im Stich. Presseaussendung vom 18. Mai 2009
- Gubitzer, Luise (2009): Hoch im Kurs. Der Staat in Zeiten der Krise. In: Bildungswerkzeug Jänner-September 2009, S. 3ff
- Huffschmid, Jörg (2009): Finanzmarktkapitalismus eine stabile Formation? Paper für die gemeinsame Tagung "Kapitalismustheorien" von ÖGPW und DVPW am 24. und 25. April 2009 in Wien
- ILO (2009): The financial and economic crisis: a decent work response. GB.304/ESP/2, Geneva
- ILO (2009): Asia in the Global Economic Crisis: Impacts and Responses from a Gender Perspective, Pacific; http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_101737.pdf
- ILO (2009): Economic crisis and labour market impacts, 26.10.2009, https://webdev.ilo.org/pls/apex/f?p=109:51:6313307927562217::::P51_CONTENT_ID: 20891:
- IPS (2009): Migration Bolivia: Women's Remittances Come at High Cost, 25.5.2009, http://ipsnews.net/print.asp?idnews=46963
- IPS (2009): Migration: Financial Crisis Eroding Remittances Lifeline, 17.4.2009, http://ipsnews.net/news.asp?idnews=46545
- Katholische Aktion Österreichs (2009): Märchen vom Steuerzahlen, Wien
- Katholische Sozialakademie Österreichs (2008): Steuern für gesellschaftlichen Zusammenhalt. Erwartungen an eine Steuerreform, Wien
- Kennedy, Margrit (2008): Geld regiert die Welt. Doch wer regiert das Geld? In:
- $http://issuu.com/margritkennedy/docs/art_fnw_01_2008_geldregiertdie?mode=embed\&docu\\ mentId=0\ 90123200421-88a45e01b0b543869fda666793b89ac0\&layout=grey\\ [17.12.2009]$
- Klein, Naomi (2007): Die Schock-Strategie. Der Aufstieg des Katastrophen-Kapitalismus, Frankfurt am Main
- Küblböck, Karin; Cornelia Staritz (2008): Asienkrise: Lektionen gelernt? Finanzmärkte und Entwicklung, Wien
- KOO/CIDSE (2009): Steuer herumreißen –Lücken schließen: Globalisierte Steuerpolitik gegen Ungleichgewichte der Globalisierung,
- http://www.koo.at/fileadmin/download/entwicklungsfinanzierung/CIDSE-Steuerpapier-Zusammenfassung.pdf

- KOO (2008): Doha UN Konferenz für Entwicklungsfinanzierung, http://www.koo.at/index.php?id=entwicklungsfinanzierung [24.11.2009]
- KOO (2008): Presseinformation vom 1.12.2008 "Kampf gegen Steuerflucht zentrales Thema",
- http://www.koo.at/fileadmin/download/entwicklungsfinanzierung/doha/KOO_Presseaussend ung Steuergerechtigkeit.doc
- Madörin, Mascha (2009) (im Interview): "Das Modell des Ernährerlohns ist vollkommen überholt". In: WOZ, 28.5.2009, http://www.woz.ch/artikel/rss/17948.html)
- Madörin, Mascha (2006): Plädoyer für eine eigenständige Theorie der Care-Ökonomie. In: Niechoj, Torsten & Marco Tullney (Hg.), Geschlechterverhältnisse in der Ökonomie, Marburg
- Mooslechner, Peter & Schuerz, Martin (2009): Verteilung der Geldvermögen. In: Sozialbericht 2007-2008, Bundesministerium für Soziales und Konsumentenschutz, S. 276-286,
- http://www.bmsk.gv.at/cms/site/attachments/5/6/9/CH0016/CMS1232705026761/sozialbericht 2007-2008.pdf
- Nelson, Julie A. (2007): "Ist die Ökonomie Teil der Gesellschaft? Bemerkungen aus feministischer Sicht" in: "Feministische Studien", Stuttgart
- Oe24.at (2009): Das "Who is Who" der österreichischen Milliardäre und Millionäre, Wien, 30. Juli 2009, http://www.oe24.at/wirtschaft/Das-sind-die-100-reichsten-Oesterreicher-0503242.ece
- ORF News (2009): Fast alle Kriterien für Schattenfinanzplatz erfüllt, http://orf.at/091101-44249/?href=http%3A%2F%2Forf.at%2F091101-44249%2F44250txt_story.html
- Oesterreichische Nationalbank (2009): Gesamtwirtschaftliche Prognose der OeNB für Österreich 2009 bis 2011. Wien, http://www.oenb.at/de/img/gewi_2009_q4-prognose_tcm14-144313.pdf
- Oxfam: Paying the Price for the Economic Crisis, Oxfam International Discussion Paper, March 2009, http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/paying-the-price-for-global-economic-crisis.pdf
- Palma, José Gabriel (2008): Drei Muster internationaler Finanzkrisen. In: Küblböck u. a., Asienkrise: Lektionen gelernt? Finanzmärkte und Entwicklung, Wien
- Schäfer, Rita (2002): "Gender und ländliche Entwicklung in Afrika". In: Politik und Zeitgeschichte B 13-14/ 2002
- Schenk, Martin (2009): Wo ist das Finanzpaket? In: Augustin Nr. 260, 14.1.2009, http://www.augustin.or.at/article1196.htm
- Schmitt, Britta (2003): Tobin-Steuer und Co. In: Dackweiler, Regina, Maria & Ursula Hornung (Hg.), frauen macht geld, Münster
- Schuberth, Helene (2008): Ist der Finanzmarkt ein Jahrmarkt? In: Die Presse, 31.3.2008, http://diepresse.com/home/meinung/gastkommentar/373594/index.do
- Schuberth, Helene (2009): "Ist die Finanzkrise männlich?", unveröff. (Vortrag am 16.6.2009, für das Österreichische Nationalkomitee für UNIFEM, Wien

- Schulmeister, Stephan; Margit Schratzenstaller, Oliver Picek (2008): A General Financial Transaction Tax Motives, Revenues, Feasibility and Effects, WIFO-Studie im Auftrag des Europäischen Sozialen Forums Europa, Wien
- Schulmeister, Stephan (2009): Eine generelle Finanztransaktionssteuer. Konzept, Begründung, Auswirkungen. WIFO Working Papers Nr. 352, http://www.wifo.ac.at/wwa/servlet/wwa.upload.DownloadServlet/bdoc/WP_2009_3 52\$.PDF
- Schulmeister, Stephan (2009) (b): Wessen Hand war das? In: Die Presse, 6.2.2009, http://diepresse.com/home/spectrum/zeichenderzeit/450531/index.do
- Seguino; Stephanie (2009): The Global Economic Crisis, Its Gender Implications and Policy Responses; http://www.uvm.edu/~sseguino/pdf/global_crisis.pdf
- Spitzer, Markus (2006): Die Krise der Maquilaindustrie in Mexiko; Ursachen, Verlauf und Auswirkungen auf geschlechtliche Charakteristika der ArbeiterInnenschaft, Diplomarbeit, Universität Wien
- WOMNET (2009): WOMNET NRO BRIEFING und Diskussionsrunde zur 53. Sitzung der UN-Frauenrechtskommission, http://www.womnet.de/content/upload/ergebnisprotokollwomnet-nro-briefing-frk.pdf
- UNCTAD (2009): Trade and Development Report, http://www.unctad.org/en/docs/tdr2009_en.pdf
- Unger, Brigitte (im Interview): Noch schärfere Krise in zwei, drei Jahren. In: Der Standard, 7.10.2009, http://derstandard.at/1254310740436/Oekonomin-Noch-schaerfere-Krise-in-zwei-drei-Jahren
- UNIFEM (2009): News Release Making Economic Stimulus Packages Work for Women. 24. June, New York
- United Nations (2008): Delivering on the Global Partnership for Achieving the Millennium Development Goals. E.08.I.17, http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/MDG%20Gap%20Task%20Force%20Report% 202008.pdf
- United Nations (2009) (a): United Nations Conference on the World Financial and Economic Crisis and its Impact on Development. A/CONF. 214/4
- United Nations (2009) (b): World Economic Situation and Prospects as of mid-2009. E 2009/73
- United Nations (2009) (c): Report of the Commission of Experts of the President of the United Nations General Assembly on Reforms of the International Monetary and Financial System, September 21, 2009, http://www.un.org/ga/econcrisissummit/docs/FinalReport_CoE.pdf
- UN INSTRAW (2009): Women's alternatives to the crisis, http://www.un-instraw.org/en/media-centre/e-news/alternativas-a-la-crisis-desde-el-punto-de-vista-de-las-mu-2.html
- UN Non-Governmental Liaison Service (2009): NGO Consultation on the Commission of Experts of the President of the UN General Assembly on Reforms of the International Monetary and Financial System, http://www.un-ngls.org/spip?page=cfr_contributions&id_rubrique=103

- UNRISD (2009): The Gendered Character of Social Care in the Non-Profit Sector in South Africa, Geneva
- UNRISD (2009): Conference News: The Political and Social Economy of Care. Report of the UNRISD Conference 6 March 2009, New York
- vidc (2009): Dokumentation der Internationalen Tagung [vidc & ÖFSE]: Wege zu einer neuen Finanzordnung. Systemische Antworten auf die Nahrungsmittel- und Finanzkrise, http://dp.vidc.org/fileadmin/Bibliothek/DP/Dokumentation-Neue-Finanzordnung.pdf
- Von Winterfeld, Uta: Feministische Anmerkungen zur Finanzkrise. In: genanet-Leitstelle Gender/Umwelt/Nachhaltigkeit (Hg.), Wuppertal 2009,
- http://www.genanet.de/fileadmin/downloads/Stellungnahmen_verschiedene_de/Feministische_Anmer kungen_Finanzkrise_I.pdf
- Ökonomischer Wachstumsdialog (2009): Ökonomische Zweifel am Grünen Wachstum. In: Der Standard vom 19.12.2009, http://derstandard.at/1259282280908/Kommentar-der-Anderen-Oekonomische-Zweifel-am-Gruenen-Wachstum; www.wachstumimwandel.at
- Wichterich, Christa (2009 a) (im Interview): "Frauen funktionieren als soziale Airbags". In: DieStandard, 22.9.2009, http://diestandard.at/1252036990913/Frauen-funktionieren-als-soziale-Air-Bags
- Wichterich, Christa (2009 b): Die Abwärtsspirale. In: TAZ vom 19.2.09
- Wichterich, Christa (2009 c): Frauen als soziale Airbags. Ein feministischer Blick auf die globalen Krisen. In: Lunapark 21, Heft 6, http://www.lunapark21.net/archiv/lp21/lp21_09_06_22-25.pdf
- Wichterich, Christa (2009 d): Gleich, gleicher, ungleich. Paradoxien und Perspektiven von Frauenrechten in der Globalisierung, Sulzbach/Taunus
- Wichterich, Christa (2009 e): Die Krise hat System. Die Geschlechterdimension des Crashs, in: politische ökologie 118, 2009, 21-24
- WIDE Women in Development Europe (2009): WIDE's contribution to the online consultation of the "Commission of Experts of the President of the UN General Assembly on Reforms of the International Monetary and Financial System", http://62.149.193.10/wide/download/WIDEcontributionStiglitzCommissionUNGA.pdf? id=813
- WIDE (2009): We care! Feminist responses to the care crises. A report of the WIDE Annual Conference 2009, Brussels
- Women's Working Group on Financing for Development (2009): Theme 1: Financial regulation. In: NGO Consultation on the Commission of Experts of the President of the UN General Assembly on Reforms of the International Monetary and Financial System, http://www.un-ngls.org/cfr_article.php3?id_article=702
- World Bank (2009): Migration and Development Brief 10, July 2009, http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPROSPECTS/Resources/334934-1110315015165/Migration&DevelopmentBrief10.pdf

Young, Brigitte (2009): Die Subprime-Krise und die geschlechtsspezifische Schuldenfalle. In: WISO Diskurs Oktober 2009, Antworten aus der feministischen Ökonomie auf die globale Wirtschafts- und Finanzkrise, Bonn-München